FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
1/18/2023 4:41 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. <u>101643-3</u> Court of Appeals No. 83506-8-I

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

The Matter of the Guardianship of G.M.O.

Motion for Discretionary Review

treated as a Petition for Review

Kate L. Benward Attorney for Petitioner

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711 katebenward@washapp.org

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND DECISION BELOW

Pursuant to RAP 18.13A, 13.3(e) and 13.5A, Mr. O., the father of G.M.O., requests review by this Court of the Court of Appeals decision affirming the order of guardianship, a copy of which is attached as Appendix A.

B. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Poverty, and particularly homelessness, are the result of larger systems of social and economic inequality that individual parents have difficulty surmounting on their own. Yet the Court of Appeals requires the Department do nothing to address a parent's homelessness other than provide a list of overburdened housing resources, even when homelessness is a main reason for government intervention. This Court should accept review and

require the Department do more to assist parents overcome economic barriers to reunification. RAP 13.4(b)(3)-(4).

2. The guardian ad item (GAL) advocated for her belief about ten-year-old G.M.O.'s best interests, but this did not reflect G.M.O.'s stated desire to return to his father. Instead, the GAL advocated against reunification by aligning herself with the Department. This Court should accept review and hold that due process and a balancing of the *Mathews*¹ factors require the appointment of counsel when a child's expressed wishes are counteracted by the GAL's

¹*Mathews v. Eldridge*, 424 U.S. 319, 320, 96 S. Ct. 893, 47 L. Ed. 2d 18 (1976).

advocacy for the child's purported best interests. RAP 13.4(b)(3)-(4).

3. The guardian ad litem statutes allow a GAL to both investigate, present evidence and advocate for a child's best interest. When the GAL is also an attorney, these statutes must be construed to prevent the GAL from serving as both witness and legal advocate in the dependency trial because this creates a conflict under the Rules of Professional Conduct (RPC) and violates the appearance of fairness and due process. RAP 13.4(b)(3)-(4).

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. O. raised G.M.O. as a loving father. 9/16/21 RP 60. But in June 2019, Mr. O. was stopped by law enforcement for driving under the influence. 10/29/21 RP 7. His eight-year-old son G.M.O. was unrestrained in the car. 10/29/21 RP 7. The Department became

involved based on its concerns about the parents' substance abuse, "unsafe and unstable housing," G.M.O.'s lack of regular school attendance, and "allegations of domestic violence between the mother and the father." RP 7/8/21 RP 136.

Mr. O. and G.M.O.'s mother separated. 9/16/21 RP 83. The Department placed G.M.O. in foster care. Ex. 67, p.4/8. Later, he was placed with his maternal great-uncle. He stayed in this family placement for the remainder of the dependency. *Id*.

The court found G.M.O. dependent on the basis there was no parent capable of adequately caring for him under RCW 13.34.030(6)(c). Ex. 4, p. 3. The Department required Mr. O. complete a drug and alcohol evaluation, random urinalysis testing, parenting classes, and a domestic violence assessment. 7/8/21 RP 147.

1. Mr. O. lives in his car throughout the dependency but the Department does not assist him to obtain housing.

Mr. O. was evicted around the time the Department removed G.M.O. from his care. 9/16/21 RP 60. Mr. O. slept in his car the entire two and a half years of the dependency. 9/16/21 RP 111. He had a sedan, so he could not lay down and sleep comfortably. 9/16/21 RP 111.

Mr. O. was exhausted from sleeping in his car; anytime he got into a "comfortable couch or a chair," he would "dose [sic] off for a second." 9/16/21 RP 111. The treatment provider at Mr. O.'s in-patient program noted that "he was excessively tired from fatigue when he entered." 7/7/21 RP 107. It was also observed that Mr. O. dozed off during an intake for MRT, though not during the class. RP 10/29/21 RP 67. The social worker and the GAL faulted Mr. O. for dozing off at times

during visits with his son. 10/29/21 RP 178; 9/16/21 RP 111-12.

By trial, Mr. O.'s homelessness was identified as the primary barrier to Mr. O. reunifying with his son. 7/8/21 RP 171; 10/29/21 RP 183. The Department was negligent in this critical area. One social worker, Ms. Metcalf, claimed the housing "service" she offered was telling Mr. O. about sober housing for parents and informing him of other generic resources such as the "211 line." 7/8/21 RP 171, 192-93. The Department offered no direct assistance to Mr. O. in filing forms or attempting to connect him to housing resources. 7/8/21 RP 193. Ms. Metcalf was unaware if Mr. O. reached out to any housing services. 7/8/21 RP 171.

Another social worker, Ms. Boyd, did not deem Mr. O.'s lack of housing to be a deficiency which required her to offer a service. 9/16/21 RP 131. She was

unaware of the Department ever providing Mr. O. with a list of housing resources. 10/29/21 RP 172. None of the Department's service letters contained any housing referrals. See ex. 28, 31. 33.

Mr. O. "signed up for at least three or four" housing programs on his own. 7/8/21 RP 223. But he was told he would have to wait over a year to receive housing assistance. 7/8/21 RP 224. Ms. Boyd learned Mr. O. was finally receiving housing assistance when Homeward House contacted her around the time of trial to inform her they were providing Mr. O. housing. 10/29/21 RP 172.

The Department required Mr. O. complete a number of other services while he was living out of his car, but he was not able to engage. He attended an inpatient treatment program but did not follow up. FF 2.8.9(xii)-(xiii).

Mr. O. disputed that the invited no-contact order violations he had with G.M.O.'s mother meant he was a domestic violence abuser. 9/16/21 RP 37, 114. But the Department required Mr. O. complete a domestic violence assessment and treatment even though they were no longer together, which he did not complete. FF 2.8.9(ix).

Mr. O. and his son enjoyed each other's company and talked easily with each other. Ex. 67, p.5/8. Yet the Department also required Mr. O. complete a parenting class to "learn about age appropriate conversations surrounding the Department's involvement in their lives, as well as age appropriate milestones." Ex. 65.

Mr. O. did not take these classes. FF 2.8.9(x).

The Department and GAL insisted it would take Mr. O. at least nine months to engage in the required services, and that G.M.O. could not be reunited with

Mr. O. until he completed all of them. 10/29/21 RP 46, 184.

2. G.M.O.'s court-appointed GAL advocates contrary to his stated wishes about visits with his father and reunification.

G.M.O. is "okay" staying with his great-uncle, but wanted to be returned to his parents. 10/29/21 RP 178. G.M.O. continued to enjoy visits with both his parents during the dependency. *Id.* When Mr. O. and G.M.O. visited together, they "easily fill[ed] an hour of just talking," joking with each other and reminiscing about the past. Ex. 67, p.5/8.

But G.M.O. was distraught about being separated from his dad. He would cry after visits, and expressed frustration and sorrow about the dependency process.

7/8/21 RP 183. G.M.O. was also devastated when Mr.

O. missed a few visits due to his misdemeanor incarceration and transportation issues. 9/16/21 RP 50.

During visits G.M.O. would ask his dad questions "regarding 'what's going on,' 'when am I going home,' 'what is mom and dad doing,' 'what's expected." 7/8/21 RP 183. The social worker recognized "it can be difficult to have those conversations." 7/8/21 RP 183. But the Department believed that Mr. O. improperly spoke with his son about the case, and insisted their visits be monitored during the entire dependency. 7/8/21 RP 183. This made arranging visits far more difficult. 7/8/21 RP 198.

The Department claimed they were unable to find a visit monitor for Mr. O. and G.M.O. to meet in person with G.M.O. after March 2021. 10/29/21 RP 190. The Department knew G.M.O. was "frustrated" when he did not get in-person visit his dad. 10/29/21 RP 195.

The Department specifically knew in-person visits were far more meaningful for G.M.O. than phone and

video contact. RP 10/29/2021 RP 194-95. The

Department finally resumed Mr. O.'s visits after

G.M.O.'s great-uncle volunteered to supervise visits

nearly four months later. 10/29/21 RP 191.

By the time of trial, G.M.O. was ten years old. Ex. 67, p. 2/8. G.M.O.'s great-uncle was willing to be his guardian. 10/29/21 RP 186. But G.M.O. loves his parents and wanted to be returned to them. Ex. 67, p. 2/8. G.M.O. was too young to be informed about his right to an attorney. *Id.* Instead he was appointed a GAL who was supposed to advocate for G.M.O.'s best interests. *Id.*

The Department and GAL faulted Mr. O. for not completing the Department's required services and advocated for a guardianship, even though all parties agreed reunification of Mr. O. and G.M.O. was the ideal outcome. 10/29/21 RP 36, 184; FF 2.8.3, 2.8.4. The

court found the Department met its burden to appoint G.M.O.'s great-uncle as his guardian. CP 17.

The Court of Appeals affirmed the guardianship order, finding the Department was absolved from having to assist Mr. O. with housing because he eventually found housing resources on his own. Op. at 7-8. The Court of Appeals also found there was no due process violation in not appointing G.M.O. counsel to advocate for his stated interests that diverged from the GAL's assessment of his best wishes, and that the GAL's outsized role as fact witness, advocate, and attorney did not violate the Rules of Professional Conduct or due process. Op. at 11-20.

D. ARGUMENT

1. This Court should accept review and require the Department to assist parents experiencing homelessness when this is a primary barrier to reunification.

Mr. O.'s homelessness remained a barrier to reunification with his son throughout the dependency, but the Department social workers did not address this barrier to reunification other than tell Mr. O. about the existence of housing resources in the community. The Court Appeals found "under controlling case law," the fact that Mr. O. eventually received assistance he found on his own through other agencies satisfied the Department's burden to provide all necessary services. Op. at 7-8. The Court of Appeals also excused the Department's failing by reasoning that even if the Department had helped him to meet his family's basic needs, Mr. O. would not have remedied his deficiencies in the foreseeable future. Op. at 7-8. This Court should

accept review because it is a matter of constitutional import and substantial public interest that Mr. O. and other parents experiencing homelessness are denied the right to parent their children due to systemic problems of homelessness and poverty. RAP 13.4(b)(3)-(4).

Before a court enters an order establishing a guardianship, the Department must show all court-ordered services "have been offered or provided and all necessary services, reasonably available, capable of correcting the parental deficiencies within the foreseeable future have been offered or provided." RCW 13.36.040(2)(c)(iv). This statutory requirement protects a parent's "fundamental liberty interest in the care and custody of their children …" *In re Welfare of M.B.*, 195 Wn.2d 859, 867, 467 P.3d 969 (2020) (citing *Santosky v. Kramer*, 455 U.S. 745, 753-54, 102 S. Ct. 1388, 71 L.

Ed. 2d 599 (1982)); U.S. Const. amend. XIV, §1; Const. art. I, § 3.

Courts may not rely on poverty or homelessness to find a parent neglects a child. RCW 26.44.020(19). Yet "poverty is the single greatest predictor of a child welfare case." Amy Mulzer & Tara Urs, However Kindly Intentioned: Structural Racism and Volunteer Casa Programs, 20 CUNY L. Rev. 23, 27 (2016). Housing is a basic need, and those without it struggle the hardest to make use of other services. Taylor A.F. Wolff, Housing Is Healthcare: The Tax Implications of Homelessness and Addiction, 21 Quinnipiac Health L.J. 259, 265 (2018); Ezra Rosser, Laying the Foundation: The Private Rental Market and Affordable Housing, 44 Fordham Urb. L.J. 499, 526-27 (2017).

Studies have shown that nearly a third of children in foster care could be reunited with their

families if the families had safe, affordable housing.

Elenore Wade, *Preserving the Families of Homeless and Housing-Insecure Parents*, 86 Geo. Wash. L. Rev. 869, 873 (2018).

If a parent's homelessness prevents reunification, it is a "necessary service" that the Department must provide. RCW 13.34.065(4)(d). When a parent is "forced to search out services independently," they "may have greater difficulty complying with court orders," which undermines reunification. *In re Dependency of D.A.*, 124 Wn. App. 644, 652, 102 P.3d 847 (2004).

Even though poverty and homelessness are systemic barriers for impoverished parents, the Court of Appeals held the Department is required to do almost nothing to address a parent's need for housing. The Department is only required to provide parents with a list of referral agencies. Op. at 6 (citing *D.A.*,

124 Wn. App. at 651). And as long as the parent receives this list from any source, this will meet the Department's obligation to address this underlying, structural barrier for parents experiencing homelessness. *Id*.

The Court of Appeals thus found in Mr. O.'s case since at the time of trial he was working with a housing agency and he expected to obtain housing within 90 days, the Department met its "statutory burden to provide housing assistance." Op. at 8.

The Court of Appeals also found that because Mr.

O. was unable to progress in his other services while
living out of his car, the guardianship order should be
affirmed because "there was little likelihood that the
conditions would change in the near future." Op. at 9.

The Department should not be relieved of having to offer housing simply because a parent struggles to

comply with their other services while homeless. This ignores the structural, central role that housing plays in a parent's ability to address any alleged deficiencies.

Even though Mr. O. remained homeless for the entire dependency, the trial court saw "no barriers" Mr. O. could not overcome, and "no explanation as to why" Mr. O. did not engage in services. FF 2.8.5. The "explanation" was sitting in plain view for both the Department and court to see. Mr. O. lived in his car for the entire two years of the dependency, which left him exhausted and unable to move forward in any service or with his life. 9/16/21 RP 111. He required housing assistance, which the Department did not offer.

Aleis Maxim, Mr. O.'s treatment provider, explained that people experiencing homelessness face more barriers in achieving sobriety and maintaining it. 7/7/21 RP 80–81. That is why remedying a person's

lack of housing is critical to their success in drug and alcohol treatment. *Id*.

Mr. O. was evicted for being unable to pay rent around the time G.M.O. was removed from his care. 7/8/21 RP 220. Previous evictions are a barrier to obtaining housing. 10/29/21 RP 52. Still, throughout the dependency, neither the court nor Department identified this as a "significant factor" that delayed reunification.

This Court should accept review and require the Department provide necessary services to address a family's basic human needs such as housing before the court assesses whether a parent's deficiencies can be remedied in the foreseeable future. RAP 13.4(b)(3)-(4).

2. Ten-year old G.M.O. was entitled to the appointment of counsel to pursue his goal of reunification, regardless of the GAL's personal assessment of his best interests.

G.M.O. and Mr. O. loved each other and wanted to live together. The GAL appointed to represent G.M.O. did not advocate for G.M.O.'s expressed desire for reunification, which left G.M.O. without a voice during the dependency or in the courtroom. Because G.M.O. expressed his wishes for an outcome different from what the GAL believed was in his best interest, he should have been appointed an attorney. This Court should accept review and require courts to appoint counsel to children when their stated interests diverge from the GAL's belief about their stated interests. RAP 13.4(b)(3)-(4).

a. Appointment of the GAL rather than an attorney promotes the individual GAL's opinions, values and beliefs over those of the child's in dependency proceedings.

"[C]hildren have fundamental liberty interests at stake in termination of parental rights proceedings." *In re Dependency of M.S.R.*, 174 Wn.2d 1, 20, 271 P.3d 234 (2012). But children are only entitled to the appointment of a guardian-ad-litem, not an attorney, in dependency proceedings. *Dependency of A.E.T.H.*, 9 Wn. App. 2d 502, 525-26, 446 P.3d 667 (2019) (quoting RCW 13.34.100(1)).

"The court may appoint an attorney to represent the child's position in any dependency action on its own initiative or upon request by any party." RCW 13.34.212(2)(a). However, only children over twelve years old must be informed of their right to counsel. RCW 13.34.212(2)(c). Here, because G.M.O. was only

10 years old, he was not informed he had a right to counsel. Ex. 67.

Under a "best interest" model of advocacy, the GAL is given authority to voice "the child's" position, based on the GAL's personal assessment of what she believes is best for the child." Mulzer & Urs, supra, at 24. The "best interests of the child' standard is susceptible to class- and race-based biases[.]" Matter of K.W., 199 Wn.2d 131, 155, 504 P.3d 207 (2022). This is because an assessment of another person's "best interests" will "often and inevitably" be "based upon the legal representative's values and life experiences," not that of the child's or family's. Randi Mandelbaum, Revisiting the Question of Whether Young Children in Child Protection Proceedings Should Be Represented by Lawyers, 32 Loy. U. Chi. L.J. 1, 34 (2000).

"[P]oor families and families of Color are disproportionately impacted by child welfare proceedings." K.W., 199 Wn.2d at 155 (citing Santosky, 455 U.S. at 763). GAL volunteers are predominantly white, middle-class women. Mulzer & Urs, supra, at 24. Inserting a white, middle class voice to mediate a poor child of color's best interests has deep roots in some of the most critiqued aspects of the child welfare system: it was "founded on notions of superiority among a charitable class of white women, who used their presumed authority over the domestic sphere as a basis to intervene and protect poor children of color." *Id.* at 58.

The appointment of GAL volunteers is found to reduce the likelihood of a successful reunification between children and their parents. Mulzer & Urs, supra, at 44. By contrast, "[q]uality legal

representation is associated with shorter times in care and better outcomes." Wendy Shea, *Legal*Representation for Children: A Matter of Fairness, 47

Mitchell Hamline L. Rev. 728, 748–49 (2021).

Lack of competent, legal representation can create "barriers to engagement," affecting a child's "procedural and substantive rights." *Id.* If a child is not engaged in the process, the court will be deprived of relevant information, and the child is likely to view the process as unfair. *Id.* An attorney can assist the child to understand their rights, and "can facilitate and expedite the resolution of disputes, minimize contentiousness, and effectuate court orders." *M.S.R.*, 174 Wn.2d at 21.

b. The GAL's advocacy for her belief in G.M.O.'s best interests undermined his desire for reunification with his father.

G.M.O. wanted to be reunited with his father, but the GAL was not required to support G.M.O.'s wishes or take active steps to pursue G.M.O.'s objective during the dependency if she did not agree this was in his best interests. RCW 13.34.105(1)(f) (GALs must "represent and be an advocate for the best interests of the child.").

G.M.O. and his father are Latino, of Puerto-Rican descent. Ex. 74. It can be fairly inferred here, as in the majority of dependency cases, the GAL did not share the child or parent's cultural background. On the first day of trial, Mr. O. had to clarify the pronunciation and spelling of his son's name. 7/8/21 RP 119. The GAL repeatedly misnamed G.M.O., and her report used the anglicized version of G.M.O.'s name. This reveals a cultural gap between the GAL and G.M.O. and his

father's heritage. Ex. 67.2 This gap made it more likely the GAL's perception of G.M.O.'s best interests reflect her own particular culture and value systems, not G.M.O.'s and his father's. Mulzer & Urs, *supra*, at 45-46.

G.M.O.'s desire for reunification required an advocate who was ethically obliged to advance G.M.O.'s interest in reunification. But the GAL's position against Mr. O. and in favor of the Department was apparent at trial.

The GAL's cross-examination of Mr. O. was focused on showing his failures and exposing reasons he should not be reunited with his son, including ancillary issues, like not having obtained his driver's license. *See, e.g.*, 9/16/21 RP 61-66. Rather than

 $^{^2}$ G.'s mother does not share the same Latino surname and this record does not reveal her ethnicity.

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