FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
2/16/2023 8:00 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 101643-3

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re Guardianship of G.M.O.

RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

Anne Ryan Assistant Attorney General WSBA #46882 3501 Colby Avenue, Suite 200 Everett, WA 98201 (425) 257-2170 OID #91145

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

First, F.O. received housing assistance. F.O. obtained housing during the dependency, made no progress towards reunification notwithstanding that housing, and lost the housing he had based on his own actions entirely unrelated to poverty. Second, the record demonstrates at the conclusion of trial F.O. was expected to obtain housing within 90 days, but he nonetheless would not be reunified with G.M.O. within the foreseeable future, due to F.O.'s active substance use and

unresolved domestic violence issues. Finally, to the extent F.O. argues that DCYF should expend more resources towards housing, this is an argument best addressed to the Legislature, which has yet to fund the related statutory provision.

1. F.O. received housing assistance

At a hearing on a guardianship petition, DCYF has to prove that all court-ordered and necessary services, reasonably available, capable of correcting the parental deficiencies within the foreseeable future have been offered or provided. RCW 13.36.040(2)(c)(iv). In determining if a particular service has been offered or provided, "the court may consider any service received, from whatever source, bearing on the potential correction of parental deficiencies." In re Dependency of D.A., 124 Wn. App. 644, 651, 652, 102 P.3d 847 (2004). Where housing assistance is a necessary service, DCYF must "[a]t minimum ... provide a parent with a list of referral agencies that provide those services." *Id.* at 651. Here, DCYF met its statutory obligation.

DCYF discussed housing resources with F.O., which he contacted. 7/8/21RP 144, 171, 193, 223. F.O. accessed multiple housing resources including HEN, 211, Homeward House, and Housing Hope. 7/8/21RP 223-224; 232-234. F.O. found securing housing difficult because of the evictions on his record, not because of the application process, which he describe as "really simple." 7/8/21RP 232-234. F.O. worked with a Snohomish County Sheriff's Office caseworker to secure housing. 7/8/21RP 225-229. The GAL provided F.O. with a list of community resources. 10/29/21RP 42-43.

It is uncontested F.O. had secured sober housing when he completed inpatient treatment in March 2021, but lost the housing when he did not follow house rules. CP 42 (FF 2.8.9(xiv)). At trial, F.O. established he would obtain housing within 90 days. 10/29/21 Vol. 1 RP 53; Ex 78. F.O. argued that housing was no longer a barrier for him at the end of the trial. Ex 78; 10/29/21 Vol. 1 RP 81-82; 87. F.O. was offered adequate

housing assistance, and DCYF met its burden under RCW 13.36.140.

2. Housing assistance was not capable of reunifying G.M.O. with F.O. in the foreseeable future

The Court of Appeals correctly held that even if DCYF had provided F.O. with additional housing services, F.O.'s other parental deficiencies remained, and there was little likelihood that conditions would change in the near future. *In re Guardianship of G.M.O.*, No. 83506-8-I, 2022 WL 17829981 at *3 (Wash. Ct. App. Dec. 19, 2022) (unpublished). "Even in instances where the Department inexcusably fails to offer all necessary services, termination may still be appropriate if the service would not remedy the parent's deficiencies within the foreseeable future." *In re Parental Rights to K.M.M.*, 186 Wn.2d 466, 486, 379 P.3d 75 (2016).

F.O. did not assign error to the court's finding that there was little likelihood that conditions would change in the near future despite showing he was about to obtain housing.

Unchallenged findings must be accepted as verities for purposes

of this appeal. *A.W.*, 182 Wn.2d at 711. F.O. concedes that housing assistance was not capable of remedying his parental deficiencies in G.M.O.'s foreseeable future. This Court should decline review.

3. The need for additional housing assistance should be directed at the Legislature

DCYF has an obligation to provide all services ordered by the permanency plan as well as all necessary services capable of correcting the parental deficiencies within the foreseeable future. K.M.M., 186 Wn.2d at 479. For the purposes of RCW 13.34, housing assistance is not considered a remedial service or family reunification service. RCW 13.34.030(15). However, if homelessness is a primary factor in a child's out-of-home placement, the dependency court may order DCYF to provide housing assistance. RCW 13.34.138(2)(c)(i); Washington State Coal. for the Homeless v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs., 133 Wn.2d 894, 925, 949 P.2d 1291 (1997). Housing assistance is subject to the availability of funds. RCW 13.34.138(4). "Nothing in this chapter shall be construed ... to create judicial authority to order the provision of such assistance to any person ... if the assistance or funding are unavailable or the child or family are not eligible for such assistance." *Id.* The Legislature has yet to fund this provision.

Even if funds were available, F.O. never progressed in his remedial services so that the dependency court could find housing was a primary factor preventing reunification. CP 43 (FF 2.8.9(xx-xxiv)); Ex 6-10. Nonetheless, the Court of Appeals held that housing was a necessary service because F.O.'s homelessness was a parental deficiency that could have precluded reunification. *G.M.O.*, 2022 WL 17829981, at *2. The Court concluded housing resources were provided to F.O. *Id* at *3. To the extent F.O. argues DCYF should expend more resources on providing housing assistance, this argument is best addressed to the Legislature. As such, this Court should decline review.

B. Procedural Due Process Does Not Require the Automatic Appointment of Counsel to Children When

Their Stated Wishes Conflict With The GAL's Best Interest Assessment

Neither this Court's precedent, nor procedural due process, requires that children automatically be appointed attorneys when the GAL's best interest assessment conflicts with the child's stated wishes. The Court does not need to address these settled legal issues. Review should be denied.

1. G.M.O. was appointed a GAL consistent with statutory requirements

RCW 13.34.100(1) requires appointment of a GAL for each child who is the subject of a dependency action, unless certain exceptions apply. GALs can either be compensated guardians ad litems or volunteer court-appointed special advocates (CASA). RCW 13.34.030(12); RCW 13.34.102. Snohomish County utilizes both. Attorney Guardians ad Litem (AGALs) are appointed by the court. SCLGALR 5. CASAs are

recruited and overseen by the Snohomish County CASA Program.⁸

Both AGALs and CASAs are appointed to investigate and represent the best interest of a child, but representation of best interest may be inconsistent with the child's stated wishes, and courts may consider and weigh the recommendations with all of the parties' recommendations. RCW 13.34.030(12); RCW 13.34.105(1); GALR 2(a). The GAL must also report the child's expressed views or positions. RCW 13.34.105(1)(b). Here,, the CASA Program appointed Ann Brice, an attorney, as a volunteer CASA on the dependency matter in September 2019. CP 419-420.

2. G.M.O.'s procedural due process rights were not violated when trial court did not sua sponte appoint him counsel

Neither article I, section 3 of the Washington Constitution nor the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution

⁸ See CASA Program, https://snohomishcountywa.gov/881/CASA-Program visited February 2, 2023). (last

compel the appointment of counsel for all children in dependency proceedings. In re Dependency of E.H., 191 Wn.2d 872, 887, 894, 427 P.3d 587 (2018); In re Dependency of M.S.R., 174 Wn.2d 1, 14-15, 21, 271 P.3d 234 (2012). Rather, determination of whether there is a constitutional right to courtappointed counsel in dependency and termination matters should be determined on a case-by-case basis by applying the test identified in Mathews v. Eldridge, 424 U.S. 319, 96 S. Ct. 893, 47 L. Ed. 2d 18 (1976). E.H., 191 Wn.2d at 894; M.S.R., 174 Wn.2d at 22. Under *Mathews*, the court considers "the private interests at stake, the government's interest, and the risk that the procedures used will lead to erroneous decisions." 424 U.S. at 335. The trial judge should apply the *Mathews* factors to each child's individual circumstances to determine if the statute and due process require appointment of counsel. E.H., 191 Wn.2d at 894; *M.S.R.*, 174 Wn.2d at 22.

Here, the private interest at stake includes the parents' fundamental liberty interest in the care and custody of their child.

A.W., 182 Wn.2d at 702. A guardianship does not infringe on that right as significantly as a termination of parental rights *Id.* at 704-05. Children similarly have a strong private interest not only in an accurate decision, but also in speedy and timely permanency. RCW 13.34.020; *In re Welfare of M.B.*, 195 Wn.2d 859, 869, 467 P.3d 969 (2020). The age of the child and the child's ability to express a position are relevant considerations. *M.S.R.*, 174 Wn.2d at 21.

The second *Mathews* factor considers the government interest. 424 U.S. at 335. The State's primary interest is providing for the health and safety of children. *A.W.*, 182 Wn.2d at 709. "The state has a compelling interest in both the welfare of the child, and 'in an accurate and just decision' in the dependency and termination proceedings." *M.S.R.*, 174 Wn.2d at 19 (quoting *Lassiter v. Dep't of Soc. Servs.*, 452 U.S. 18, 31-32, 101 S. Ct. 2153, 68 L. Ed. 2d 640 (1981)).

The third *Mathews* factor considers whether appointment of counsel is needed to reduce the risk of erroneous deprivation.

424 U.S. at 335. This factor depends on the legal and factual complexity of the situation and on the parties' ability to present their case. *M.S.R.*, 174 Wn.2d at 19. Guardianships are an inherently temporary intrusion into the parent and child relationship and are reviewable, modifiable, and terminable, as compared to termination of parental rights. *A.W.*, 182 Wn.2d at 705.

Here, the risk of erroneous deprivation is mitigated by several other procedural safeguards. Parents are entitled to notice, to counsel, to discovery, to present and cross-examine witnesses, and cases are heard by an unbiased fact finder. RCW 13.36.040(1); RCW 13.34.090(1). A guardianship is established only if the child has been found dependent, a dispositional order has been entered, the child has been out of the home for at least six consecutive months, parents have been offered or provided all necessary services, and the guardianship is judicially determined to be in the child's best interest. *A.W.*, 182 Wn.2d at 708-709; RCW 13.36.040(2).

The only matter in dispute in the guardianship trial is whether to grant the guardianship petition. F.O. was represented by court-appointed counsel. F.O. had the opportunity to conduct discovery, martial evidence, present witnesses, cross-examine witnesses, call experts, and present the opinion of the child. The GAL shared G.M.O.'s stated interest in both her report and testimony. Ex 67 at 2; 10/29/21 Vol. 1 RP 45. As the Court of Appeals correctly determined, no complex issues were raised at the trial by either DCYF or F.O. *G.M.O.*, 2022 WL 17829981, at *6. F.O.'s attorney's advocacy for reunification was consistent with G.M.O.'s stated interest, mitigating against a risk of error here.

F.O. contends the GAL's involvement increased the risk of error because she did not share the same cultural background as F.O. and G.M.O. Mot. at 25. Certainly it is important for the fact-finder to take into account whether any cultural competency issues impaired a GAL's ability to discern a child's best interest. "We know that like all human beings, judges and social workers

hold biases, and we know that families of Color are disproportionately impacted by child welfare proceedings. Therefore, actors in child welfare proceedings must be vigilant in preventing bias from interfering in their decisionmaking." *In re Dependency of K.W.*, 199 Wn.2d 131, 156, 504 P.3d 207 (2022).

Here, the risk of error was mitigated by the other safeguards in place and the court's ability to weigh cultural differences in determining what weight to give the GAL's opinion. The trial court is not bound by the GAL's report or recommendation, but "instead must make its own assessment of the child's best interest." *In re Marriage of Swanson*, 88 Wn. App. 128, 138, 944 P.2d 6 (1997).

On appeal F.O. points to the GAL's written report that included the anglicized nickname for G.M.O. to demonstrate possible cultural bias. He did not raise the issue of the GAL's written anglicization of G.M.O.'s nickname at trial, and when asked at trial if the child went by the nickname "Joe" the father

confirmed that he did, but clarified that it was spelled "G-I-O." 7/8/21RP 119. F.O. never raised the issue of the GAL's cultural competence in either the dependency or guardianship matter. He did not ask to have the GAL removed from either matter. The GAL conducted an independent investigation and strongly advocated for F.O.'s rights not be terminated so that G.M.O. could maintain a relationship with F.O. and stay with Uncle Lonnie. Ex 67; 10/29/21 Vol 1 RP 36, 38. The GAL also advised the court of G.M.O.'s expressed wish to return to his parents. Ex 67 at 2.

The court heard from G.M.O's mother and DCYF caseworkers that establishing guardianship served G.M.O.'s best interest. 7/7/21RP 9; 7/8/21RP 184-185; 10/29/21 Vol. 3 RP 178-179. After weighing the evidence, the court agreed.

The balancing of the *Mathews* factors supports the Court of Appeals' determination that the procedures used were adequate to comport with due process. This Court should deny review.

C. The Rules of Professional Conduct Do Not Prohibit GALs From Serving As Both Advocate and Witness

Neither the RPCs nor the statutes governing GALs prevent a GAL from both serving as a factual representative and acting as their own legal counsel. This dual role is plainly authorized by RCW 13.34.100(5) and 13.34.105(1). F.O. fails to show the guardianship proceeding was not fair, impartial, or neutral. F.O. presents no basis for this Court's review.

Federal law requires that a GAL be appointed to a dependency case in order to make recommendations to the court concerning the best interests of the child. 42 U.S.C. § 5106a(b)(2)(A)(xiii)(I), (II). The GAL's role and duties are clearly outlined in RCW 13.34.105 and Guardian Ad Litem Rules (GALR). The RPCs serve as safeguards to uphold the appearance of fairness and to avoid any conflicts of interest.

F.O. cannot point to any duty listed in RCW 13.34.105 or GALRs that the GAL violated during the dependency or guardianship proceedings. A GAL is required to make recommendations regarding the best interest of the child.

RCW 13.34.105(1)(e). The GAL must report to the court any views or positions expressed by the child. RCW 13.34.105(b). GALs may file pleadings, engage in and respond to discovery, note and request hearings, introduce exhibits, examine witnesses, bring motions or take positions on other parties' motions. GALR 4(h)(1)-(3); RCW 13.34.100(5). GALs are to represent and advocate for the best interests of the child. RCW 13.34.105(f).

F.O.'s reliance on RPC 3.7 is misplaced. The rule provides that a lawyer shall not act as advocate at a trial in which the lawyer is likely to be a necessary witness. RPC 3.7. The purpose of RPC 3.7 is to avoid the trier of fact from being confused or misled by a lawyer serving as both advocate and witness. *See* RPC 3.7 Comment [1]. F.O. cannot point to anything in the record or the court's findings that show the trial judge was confused or misled by the GAL's role in the case.

F.O. also fails to show a basis for reversal. If an RPC is violated, there is only a public disciplinary remedy and not a private remedy. *See Hizey v. Carpenter*, 119 Wn.2d 251, 259, 830

P.2d 646 (1992). F.O.'s remedy for any RPC violations would be through a conduct grievance, not reversal of the guardianship order.

Finally, F.O. received a fair guardianship trial. A basic requirement of due process is the right to a fair trial in a fair tribunal. *Bracy v. Gramley*, 520 U.S. 899, 904, 117 S. Ct. 1793, 138 L. Ed. 2d 97 (1997). As the Court of Appeals correctly held, F.O. must show actual or potential bias when asserting a violation of the appearance of fairness, which F.O. cannot do. *G.M.O.*, 2022 WL 17829981, at *8. Therefore, this Court should decline review.

V. CONCLUSION

F.O. fails to satisfy his burden under RAP 13.4(b). This Court should deny review.

This document contains 4,994 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.